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ASSURANCE OF DISCONTINUANCE 

In the Spring of 2021, the Office of Attorney General of the State ofNew York ("OAG") 

began to investigate, pursuant to New York Executive Law § 63(12), certain employment practices 

of Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. ("Con Edison"). Specifically, the OAG 

investigated whether Con Edison (1) failed to address race- and sex-based harassment of 

employees in unionized field positions, (2) maintained a hostile work environment for women in 

unionized field positions, and (3) disciplined women in unionized field positions at higher rates than 

their male counterparts for attendance, depriving them of opportunities to advance, in violation of 

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e et seq., New York State Human 

Rights Law, N.Y. Exec. L. § 296 et seq., and New York City Human Rights Law, N.Y.C. Admin. 

Code§ 8-107. 

This Assurance of Discontinuance contains the findings of the OAG's investigation and 

the relief agreed to by OAG and Con Edison. 

DEFINITIONS 

"Agreement" means this Assurance of Discontinuance. 

"Claims Administrator" refers to the third-party vendor referenced in Paragraphs 58-73 of 
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by a supervisor, that other managers were aware of the unlawful harassment and took no action, 

and that those managers were never investigated or disciplined for their failure to report. As a result 

of these complaints, OAG began an investigation. 

5) Throughout the course of its 'investigation, the OAG interviewed dozens of current 

and former Con Edison employees, took testimony from three Con Edison representatives, and 

reviewed over 1,400 documents. 

Unlawful Discrimination against Women in Field Positions 

6) The OAG found that women in Field Positions at Con Edison were routinely 

subjected to mistreatment based on their gender, and that 001 often failed to take adequate action 

to protect victims or address systemic discrimination against women. The OAG further found that 

women were disciplined for lateness and absences at a higher rate than men. The OAG further 

found that several men were subjected to racial harassment by a supervisor whose employment was 

only terminated two years after his misconduct-which included the use of blackface, racially offensive 

jokes, and the N-word-began, and well after the employees had twice complained to management and 

received no response. 

Under-representation of women in Field Positions: 

7) Overall, women comprised less than 17% ofCon Edison's unionized Field Positions 

between 2019 and 2022, and at least one location had no female workers at all as of 2022. While 

Con Edison complied with federal requirements regarding the compilation of yearly affirmative 

action plans, it did not target locations with zero or few women and did not take sufficient action 

to assess whether the climate is welcoming to women or whether women are deterred from 

applying or staying to work at the company based on a hostile work environment. 

Gender-based hostile work environment for women in Field Positions: 

8) Interviews with current and former employees and a review of internal complaints 
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revealed that numerous women were subjected to a hostile work environment at Con Edison. 

9) Several women reported that their male coworkers were unwilling to work with 

them and that they were regularly maligned as lazy and incompetent. 

10) Men referred to them as "bitches," and at least one woman was called a "stupid 

bitch" and a "dumb bitch." 

11) Women were subjected to demeaning comments about their appearances, including 

the tightness of their pants, the length of their nails, and their weight. Multiple women were 

criticized by male colleagues and/or supervisors for the length and frequency of their bathroom 

breaks. 

12) Men have explicitly told their female counterparts at Con Edison: 

• "Women don't belong in this department;" 

• "I don't see females being in the department because it's dirty and rough;" 

• "You don't belong here;" 

• "Are you sure you want to go in a manhole?;" and 

• "Maybe this job is not for you." 

13) One male supervisor was overheard saying that he "had it good" because he had an 

"all-male department." 

14) A few women have alleged that this disparate treatment extended to the denial or 

delay ofemployment opportunities. Two women reported that their supervisors did not allow them 

to train and prepare for promotional exams, which men were permitted to do. 

Sexual harassment of women in Field Positions: 

15) Some women at Con Edison also reported experiencing sexual harassment. Several 

women were subjected to false rumors, spread by male coworkers, that they traded sexual favors 

for work and had sex with their coworkers. 

16) Women were also subjected to unwanted romantic and sexual advances in the 
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workplace. One woman was asked explicit questions about her genitals, her genital grooming, and 

what color underwear she was wearing. 

17) Another woman was severely traumatized when a male coworker exposed his erect 

penis to her and repeatedly urged her to touch it. When she reported the incident to Con Edison, the 

company opened an investigation and offered to change her location, but it did not offer to change the 

man's location, nor did it limit the accused from appearing at the woman's location or otherwise ensure 

that she would not have to encounter the accused during the pendency of the investigation. 

Failure to remedy discrimination against women in Field Positions: 

18) While Con Edison has anti-discrimination policies and practices on paper, in 

practice it has failed to take effective action to prevent and ameliorate the hostile working 

conditions described above. Specifically, records produced by Con Edison show that ODI only 

substantiated complaints that were supported by video/text/photo documentation, third-party 

eyewitness testimony, or an admission from the accused-types of evidence that are often 

unavailable to victims of harassment and discrimination. 

19) ODI records did not reveal a single instance in which an ODI investigator made a 

credibility determination in favor of a complainant in order to substantiate a complaint of sex­

based discrimination or harassment. In contrast, in every one ofthe reviewed complaints ofgender 

discrimination and harassment that came down to credibility determinations, ODI found the victim 

lacking in credibility and chose to believe the denials of the accused. 

20) As a result, women typically have not felt comfortable reporting discrimination or 

harassment to ODI. They have described ODI as a "big joke" and expressed fear that they will 

only be taken seriously if they have "absolute proof." Women who have reported misconduct to 

ODI have said that they did not trust that Con Edison would address their concerns. 

21) Although distrust in ODI is widespread, Con Edison does not appear to have taken 
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any steps to assess-let alone improve-the office's effectiveness and reputation. ODI's former 

director testified under oath that she believed that employees were generally satisfied with their 

interactions with ODI, although she could not identify any formal survey or other initiative ODI 

had undertaken to assess its efficacy. 

22) In addition, supervisors and managers often failed to report discrimination and 

harassment to ODI, even though they are mandatory reporters under Con Edison's policy. Indeed, 

some women have reported being told by supervisors to keep allegations of harassment and 

discrimination to themselves to avoid causing problems at work or harming the man's career. 

When one supervisor was told that a male employee was exposing himself to coworkers, the 

supervisor reportedly responded, "If there's no proof, don't say that. That's extremely detrimental 

to a person's career." 

23) One woman who was subjected to unwanted sexual advances and physical touching 

by the male coworker who had exposed himself to a different female worker did not come forward 

with her complaint because she knew others had been sexually harassed by the same man, and he 

was not only not disciplined, but he was promoted to a supervisor role. Ultimately, the male 

coworker was fired, but only after a nearly year-long investigation, which coincided with the 

OAG's investigation. 

24) Con Edison took little action to discipline managers-who were supposed to be 

mandatory reporters-when they failed to report EEO violations and sexual harassment. ODI was 

on notice on several occasions that supervisors were aware of but did not report harassment that 

they observed or received complaints about. Yet only once in four years did ODI investigate a 

supervisor for failing to report a complaint ofdiscrimination or harassment. 

25) Finally, although ODI identified trends in complaints, Con Edison did not take 

effective action to address the specific types of discrimination and harassment it identified. The 

9 



company created processes called "climate assessments" and "culture resets" to identify and 

address hostile work environments, but those processes have only been conducted three times since 

February 1, 2017. A Con Edison witness, who oversees ODI compliance and investigations, 

identified a proceeding as a "climate assessment," but Con Edison later corrected his testimony 

and represented that the proceeding was instead a "cultural reset." 

26) In one "climate assessment," instituted as a result of race-based harassment 

allegations, a field manager publicly posted a list of the names and scheduled interview times of 

participants in the investigation. Employees then circulated the identities of other participants in 

the investigation, causing concern among the participants about the possibility of retaliation and 

intimidation. Ultimately, ODI investigators found no EEO violations, explicitly crediting white 

workers' denials over their Black and Hispanic coworkers' corroborations of the allegations. 

Impact on employees: 

27) Several employees have sought mental health counseling as a result of the 

harassment described above. Others have taken leaves of absence for stress and panic attacks, and 

at least two have quit. 

28) One woman who left the company in 2021 after despairing of ever receiving better 

treatment recalled that "every day going to work [I] was just feeling drained, crying, stressed out. 

It was just somewhere you didn't want to come to work." 

29) Another woman, who came to Con Edison after working in almost entirely male 

environments for 21 years, told ODI that "she has never experienced the amount of 

disrespectfulness that she encountered at [Con Edison] in any other work environment." 

Disparate treatment in discipline and leave for women in Field Positions: 

30) A review of Con Edison's disciplinary documents from January 2019 to May 2022 

for men and women in Field Positions confirmed that women were disciplined at a higher rate for 
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attendance. While women comprised only 16.58% ofCon Edison's unionized workforce between 

2019 and 2022, they received 27.78% ofthe total documented disciplinary actions that Con Edison 

handed out for lateness and other attendance issues during that period. In sum, women in Field 

Positions were 2.52 times more likely to be disciplined for an attendance issue than their male 

counterparts during this time period. 

31) Even these seemingly minor disciplinary actions have had serious consequences for 

women at Con Edison. Two women would arrive at work hours early and sleep in their cars in the 

parking lot, fearing that they would be disciplined again for arriving at work even seconds late, 

when similar lateness by men was ignored. Other women have been held back from advancing 

based on their disciplinary records, which included minor infractions for which men were not 

disciplined. 

32) One woman was put on an unheard-of three-year probation period for missing 

work due to illness, and another was forced to pay back compensation she received for Covid 

leave-when no man was ever forced to do so. 

OAG Findings 

33) The OAG finds that Con Edison's actions are m violation of the New York 

Executive Law§ 63(12), the New York State Human Rights Law, Executive Law§§ 290 et seq., 

and the New York City Human Rights Law, New York Administrative Code §§ 8-101 et seq., 

which require, inter alia, equal treatment regardless ofsex and race and provide remedies for failure 

to comply therewith, prohibit sex and race discrimination in employment and the failure to remedy 

acts of sex discrimination; 

34) Con Edison does not admit the above Findings; 

35) The OAG finds the relief and agreements contained in this Agreement appropriate 

and in the public interest. THEREFORE, the OAG is willing to accept this Agreement pursuant to 
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Executive Law § 63(15), in lieu of commencing a statutory proceeding based on the conduct 

described above during the Relevant Time Period. 

IT IS HEREBY UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED, by and among Con Edison and the 

OAG, as follows: 

RELIEF 

COMPLIANCE WITH LAW 

36) Con Edison will abide by all applicable federal, state, and local laws, including but 

not limited to Title VII, New York State Human Rights Law, and New York City Human Rights 

Law, prohibiting discrimination against employees on the basis of sex or gender and race in 

promotion, pay, and other terms and conditions of employment. 

INDEPENDENT CONSULT ANT 

37) Within thirty (30) days of the Execution Date Con Edison shall retain, at its own 

reasonable expense, an independent, third-party consultant ("Independent Consultant") that is 

mutually agreeable to the OAG and Con Edison and who has expertise in evaluating compliance 

with EEO policies and anti-discrimination laws and EEO internal investigations. 

38) The Independent Consultant will be retained for a period of three years. 

39) The Independent Consultant will work with ODI and the Settlement 

Implementation Officer to facilitate implementation of and compliance with this Agreement, and 

will be responsible for the following programmatic relief: 

a) Recommend improvements to ODI's procedures and execution of 

procedures for receiving, investigating, and resolving EEO complaints, including 

recommendations as to an improved conflict checks process, greater confidentiality 

measures for investigation participants, investigation closeout procedures, and 

procedures to separate complainants from respondents during the ODI investigation 
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process to the extent permissible under the law and applicable collective bargaining 

agreements. 

b) Recommend improvements as to rev1s1ons to ODI's Internal EEO 

Investigations Handbook and associated templates, if necessary. 

c) Review in person training conducted by an independent third party, who is 

mutually acceptable to the OAG and Con Edison, for ODI personnel regarding effective 

internal EEO investigation techniques and practices, including witness credibility 

determinations by ODI investigative personnel. 

d) The Independent Consultant may recommend that Office of Diversity & 

Inclusion conduct climate assessments, consistent with Office of Diversity & Inclusion's 

practices and procedures, for specific and identifiable Con Edison work locations based 

upon allegations or concerns of gender-based discrimination, gender-based harassment, or 

retaliation concerning female union employees working in the field. The recommendation 

shall be made in writing to the Settlement Implementation Officer and the Director of 

Office of Diversity & Inclusion. The Independent Consultant may review the results of 

Office of Diversity & Inclusion's climate assessment of such locations, and they will be 

designated as confidential. 

e) Review, as part of the Con Edison's bi-annual reporting requirement, see 

Paragraph 48 below, summaries of relevant employee internal EEO complaints of gender 

discrimination, gender-based harassment, or retaliation following from complaints of 

gender discrimination or harassment made or referred to, or pending with ODI, and, at the 

Independent Consultant's discretion, request and review any ODI Investigation files and 

Reports relating to such complaints. The summary will be prepared by the Settlement 

Implementation Officer. In no event shall the Independent Consultant participate in the 
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investigation or dictate the investigatory findings. 

f) The Independent Consultant shall not be responsible for investigating 

internal complaints. In the event the Independent Consultant receives an internal 

complaint, including, but not limited to, gender discrimination, gender-based harassment, 

disparate treatment, or retaliation, they shall promptly forward it to ODI for review 

pursuant to its internal procedures and practices. If the Independent Consultant receives an 

internal complaint from a person who wishes to be anonymous, the Independent Consultant 

will promptly direct the person to Con Edison 's anonymous reporting channels, such as its 

hotline. 

g) Evaluate whether Con Edison is in material compliance with the 

programmatic terms ofthe Agreement and report their conclusion to Con Edison and to the 

OAG as part of Con Edison's bi-annual reporting requirement. 

h) Consult with the Director of ODI and the Settlement Implementation 

Officer to provide guidance and recommendations as to how Con Edison can better achieve 

its goal to support women in non-traditional job titles in the Company. The Independent 

Consultant may, at their discretion, conduct site visits, recommend that ODI conduct 

climate assessments and any other types of assessments the Independent Consultant deems 

appropriate, review the results of those assessments, and make recommendations for 

corrective action as needed based on the results of the assessments. 

40) The Independent Consultant will complete the duties listed under Paragraphs 39(a) through 39(c) 

within eighteen months of the Execution Date. 

41) The Independent Consultant will evaluate Con Edison's compliance with the 

programmatic terms of this Agreement based on, among other things, the Periodic Reports 

submitted by the Settlement Implementation Officer and any additional relevant and non-

14 



privileged documentation, or materials reviewed by the Independent Consultant pursuant to this 

Agreement and recommend corrective action to address any noncompliance. 

42) Within thirty (30) days of receiving each Periodic Report, the Independent 

Consultant shall provide a draft written progress report to the Settlement Implementation Officer 

with respect to Con Edison's implementation of and compliance with the programmatic terms of 

this Agreement. Con Edison's Settlement Implementation Officer shall have fourteen (14) days to 

review and provide feedback to the Independent Consultant and to ensure that the report does not 

inadvertently disclose confidential infonnation or contain other material errors. Following receipt 

and consideration of any comments from Con Edison, the Independent Consultant shall 

simultaneously issue to Con Edison and OAG a final written report ("Independent Consultant's 

Report") as to Con Edison's progress in implementing and complying with the Agreement. 

43) Each Independent Consultant's Report shall describe the activities of the 

Independent Consultant during the Reporting Period and evaluate whether Con Edison is in 

material compliance with the programmatic terms of this Agreement. 

44) The Independent Consultant shall, to the maximum extent practicable and 

consistent with their obligations, work cooperatively with Con Edison so as not to interfere unduly 

with Con Edison's operations. At all times, Con Edison will retain its managerial discretion to 

oversee its services and operations and to protect the safety of its employees, its customers, its 

property, and the general public. 

45) Con Edison shall, to the extent practicable, work cooperatively with the 

Independent Consultant and, in good faith, consider implementation or adoption of written 

recommendations made by the Independent Consultant to the Settlement Implementation Officer 

pursuant to this Agreement and consistent with the duties outlined above. Within thirty (30) days 

of a written recommendation, Con Edison agrees to either implement the recommendations or 
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provide a written explanation to both the Independent Consultant and the OAG explaining its 

decision to reject the recommendations of the Independent Consultant, and offering a reasonable 

and feasible alternative to the recommendations. 

46) Con Edison shall provide the Independent Consultant reasonable access to relevant, 

non-privileged documents and other sources of information necessary to execute their duties 

pursuant to this Agreement within fourteen (14) days. Any requests for such documents or 

information shall be written and directed to the Settlement Implementation Officer and Director of 

Office of Diversity & Inclusion, and such requests will be reasonable in timing and scope, will be 

limited only to those documents reasonably related to the fulfillment of their specific duties, and 

will not be unduly burdensome to Con Edison's operations and services. If Con Edison determines 

that the requested documents are privileged, unreasonable in time or scope, not reasonably related 

to the fulfillment of their specific duties, or unduly burdensome, it must provide a written 

explanation to both the Independent Consultant and the OAG within fourteen (14) days of such 

request. 

SETTLEMENT IMPLEMENTATION OFFICER 

47) Con Edison shall designate a senior employment attorney in the Law Department 

to serve as Settlement Implementation Officer, who will oversee implementation of and 

compliance with the terms ofthe Agreement. The Settlement Implementation Officer's duties shall 

include: 

a) Meeting and communicating regularly with the Independent Consultant 

during the Tenn of the Agreement, and forwarding all recommendations from the 

Independent Consultant to relevant Con Edison stakeholders and coordinating their 

response; 

b) Responding to inquiries and requests for information or documents by the 
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